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e e 1 client and Mr. Inman's client, Thomas Neely. And if youg
AT ENOXVILLE ' . .
— 2 would throughout this deposition, testify based on
e 3 reasonable medical certainty or probabilities. Will you do
e 4 that [or us'?I "
V. NOL 3:05-Cy-304 5 A will.
SHLLLE/SHE 6 Okay. Dr. Koenig, where do you practice
IR BENSR R Rl 7 medicine? . .
betendant s 8 A Ipracticc in Knoxville, Tennessee, on
APPEARBNCES : ¢ Kingston Pike.
ROBERT J . ENGLISH, 10 Q What's your specialty?
BEERPRES (aIMRNE rraineirs, 11 A Orthopedic surgery.
nomas Neely 12 Q _ Doctor, what does that mean, what does
ﬁ%#ﬁ‘ﬁnﬂg TPV TR’ berandant, 13 that entail?
E2E,GE heg Rudgs, Inc. and 14 A Itinvolves the study and treatment of
BDEPOSTT IO 15 bones, muscles, lendons, ligaments, discs and nerves,
oF 16 Q.  Okay. And where did you take your
THOMAS M. KOEN1G, H.0. 17 medical training, sir?
November 30, 2005 18 A Most of my medical training was in
19 Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. | went to a medical school
20 there called Hahnemann Medical University, and then from
21 there | did a residency for five years at Hahnemann Medical
22 University, and then ¥did an optional one year in
23 Washington, D.C. with George Schonholtz'in arthroscopy.
24 Q  Okay. Doctor, where do you do your
25 surgentes here in Knoxville when you do surgery?
. Page 2 o . Page 5
, 1 A I'vegot privileges at a fair number of _
. - 2 facilities. Most of my surgery is done out west, the more
© wrowmss - 3 major cases at Parkwest. There are 1 bunch of surge
e e i 4 centers like Parkwest Surgcry Center Tower, Kno:gvirlYe
4 Dlreck ;T,vamind tion by Mr. Lnglish 3 5 Surgery &nwr’ FOI’E' San Crs W(.’.St It I'l'lﬂy b.e easler Lo
7 Cross Examination by Mr. Woodfin 23 g %gﬁe)ﬁ%uﬁ\xgh\?\fgqg dOl’l t haVC I'JI’IVIICgCS, but pl‘ll'ﬂ&ll'l[y out
: frdirent franination Ly f. Englon * 8 Q  Okay. ls that for convenicnce sake?
1o 9 A Yes. Whenever I first came here in
1 EXHTETTS 16 1992, I didn't mind the travel so much and thus T had
I BLSCRTET TN AL 11 privileges at Children's, I'm sorry, East Tennessee
131 Currionlun vitao . 12 Children's, U.T., Regional, and as your praclice maturcs,
L 2 List of modical expenses 17 13 you don't have the time to run around to the various
15 2 MRI report dated Ootober 27, 2004 27 14 different places, so it's more or less stayed out here in
16 1 MRI roport dated damuary 10, 2005 27 15 the west.
17 16 Q Doclor, as a matter of maturity, how
18 17 long have you practiced, been licensed Lo practice
19 18 orthopedic surgery in the state?
20 19 A In elghe state, since "92.
o 20 Q@ Okay. Are you Board certified, sir?
22 21 A Yes, sir. And recently recertified.
23 22 Q _ Okay. What docs il mean to be Board
24 23 certified, Dr. Koenig? '
2 24 A When you sit for your Boards the first
25 {ime, you undergo a rigorous written exam with scveral
Page 3 Page 6
1 The videotaped deposition of THOMAS M. KOENIG, 1 hundred questions, I no longer remember, but I'm sure it's
2 M.D,, taken by a%reement of counscl, for any and all 2 four or five hundred questions, and you have to pass those.
3 purposes allowable under the Federal Rules of Civil 3 On the assumption that you've passéd those, then the Board
4 ]lj’rocedure, before DENISE M. 1100D, Court Reporter and Notary | 4 queries you as to what You actually do as [ar as practice
5 Public in and for the State of Tennessee at Large, on the 5 goes, and you have to simulate for them and gather all the
6 30th day of November, 2005, at the office of the wilness, 6 x-rays, all the operative reports for about a six-month
7 11808 Kingston Pike, Knoxville, Tennessce. 7 period of your time and they have the ability to scrutinize
8 It is agreed that the reporter may swear the 8 that. They ask you to come to Chicago and you carry a
9 witness, take the deposition Stenographical}y, and 9 bunch of bags with x-rays and all kinds of stuff, MRI's,
10 aflerwards reduce the same to typewritten form when the 16 your operative reports, and then they grill you. You sit
11 completed deposition may be used in the above-styled cause. |11 for about eight hours and they ask you anything and
12 The plaintiff does not waive any objections uniil 12 everything and hopefully you pass, and if you pass, then
13 the time of the trial. All formalitics are expressly 13 you are, at that time, Board certified. | think ever since
14 waived as to caption, certificate, transmission, and the 14 1988, if you're certified, you're certified for a limited
15 reading and signing of the deposition by the witness. 15 time, ten years, then you had to re-sit for Boards again.
15 THOMAS M. KOENIG, M.D., . 16 Q  And you did so?
17 having been first duly sworn, was examined and 17 A Yes, gir. think ['m %ood through the
18 deposed as follows: 18 year 2014, if I'm not mistaken. Ihave a cv, il you'd
19 DIRECT EXAMINATION 19 like. )
20 BY MR. ENGLISH: ) 20 (C){ Dactor, we have a copy of dyour_(jv . .
21 Q  Would you state your name for the 21 Would you hand that to the doctor and see if that's the
22 record? 22 mest recent CV he has, Ms. Court Reporter?
23 A Sure. Thomas Marlin Koenig, M.D. 23 A Yes. That is correct. And I'm
24 Dr. Koenig, my name is Bob Lnglish, as 24 recertified through the 3 1st of December, 2014, ‘
25 you know, and I'm here to ask you some questions about my |25 MR. ENGIISIL: Let's make your v Fxhibit
o WAL s, ANANA N oot 10 14 Clad Ne/no/Ng Dana 1 Af 11 DanolD # A
Aot 0. UU-CV=UUOUXH CDOCOITICTIcC TO™T T cUUOrozZo0 T agTT— ot = oG e
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1 No. 1 to your deposition, sir, 1 Q Yes, that's what I meant,
2 THE WITNESS: Sure. 2 A Okay.
3 (Exhibit No. | was filed.) 3 Q  Yeah, okay.
4 Q And, Doctor, at the request of my 4 A Ile also had a congenital fusion, and
5 partner, Michael Inman, did you see, examine and treat 5 this is also not unusual. When you have someone that has
6 Thomas Neely for injuries to his neck and his back that he 6 one congenital problem, often you find analogous, or
7 sustained on or about the 12th day of July of 2004, sir? 7 similar other structures, that are a little funny, and in
8 A Yes, sir, I did. . 8 this regard, this vertebrae was also fused partially to the -
9 Q Okay., When did you initially see him, 9 sacrum, lo the buttocks bone, il you will.
10 sir? 10 Q_ When you say congenital, what do you
11 A I saw him on the 12th of Qctober, 2004, 11 mean, Doclor? W¥1at does thal mean?
12 Q And when you saw him, Doctor, I know 12 A The way you were hom.
13 you've gol very detailed notes, and I'm not going to ask 13 @ Okay. Hc was born --
14 you to go over all the notes verbatim, but let's talk 14 A The way your Fenes made you.
15 specifically about what you found in his neck and what you |15~ @ Okay. What else did you find on that
16 found in his low back that you think was cither caused b 16 initial visgit?
17 or agl%ravatcd by the wreck that we're here about tiday, the 17 A Agflaras orllm{)edically to his lumbar
18 wreck of July the 12th of 2004. 18 spine, that was preity much it. Il¢ had a few other
19 A Suyre. Andif 1 %ivc you too much of an 19 contributing medical problems. 1le's an overweighl
20 abridged version, please -- I've got more detail Lo back up 26 gentleman, that's not %oing to do well on a back problem,
21 my thoughts. 21 and he has a previous history of tobacco usc and things of
22 Q 1 understand that, 22 that nature, which also are not great for having back pain,
23 A He did come with a chief complaint ol 23 but as far as actual additional mechanical problems, that
24 low back pain, so his back pain hurt him more than his neck |24 was what was discovered in (he first office visit, In an
25 pain. That was his secondary complaint, 25 effort 1o answer your question {ully, which you said please
Page 8 _ Page 11
1 Q All right. 1 include the cervical spine, the neck, if you will, ona -
2 A After examining him as well as examining 2 subsequent visit, on a follow-up visit -
3 multiple other medical records, those from Dr. Degnan's 3 Q  When?
4 office, emergency room records from Methodist Medical 4 A Let's see here. We followed him up
5 Center, a bunch of CAT scans, x-rays and things of that 5 frequently. We saw him on the 2nd of Novemlbcr, we saw him
6 nature, busically he was given several diagnoscs. Those 6 again on the 15th of December, and I think it was on that
7 diagnoses -- and I should also tell you that at first we 7 visit, on the 15th of December that we actually took -
% saw him for his back, and then we were able to add on to 8 were able to take a harder look in regard to his neck.
9 that because he's got a very complex case. We then added 9 Q Okay.
10 on the neck thereafier. 10 A To answer your question there, what we
11 Q Thank you, 11 felt was allributed to the motor vehicle accident was a
12 A When we first saw him, we told him that 12 cervical sirain, again analogous to a ligamentous lear much
13 he had a lumbosacral sirain, if you will. Thisisa 13 like you would have with an ankle sprain. We also noted
14 tearing of the ligaments much like you might do with a 14 that he had C4-5 and C6-7 preexisting degenerative disc -
15 severe ankle sprain of types. We also noted that he had 15 discase, meaning if we can over here on the model, I'll
16 some degenerative disc drl) sease. Without a doubt, the 16 turn this to the side so you can sec both front and hack,
17 .Fs[qrain occurred secondary to the motor vehicle aceident. 17 there are seven cervical vertebrae, one, two, three, four,
18 The degencrative disc disease is a little equivocal, could 18 [ive, six, seven, cach of these have a vertcbral body up in
19 Dbe that there was a little bit that was preexisting, could 19 front, There's gray or darker appearing discs in there,
20 be that this was made worse. However, it should be 20 and the discs that werc between the [ourth and (i{th
21 remembered that the patient specifically stated he had no 21 vertebrae as well as between the sixth and seventh
22 problems in regard to his back before. "We did recognize 22 vertebrae were degenerative. They weren't as thick and as
23 that he had some congenital problems. In other words, he 23 plump as normal, as one would hope a person of his age
24 was born with some minor abnormalities. Forlunately, like |24 would have, .
25 most congenital abnormalities, he didn't even know about 23 Q  Was that something that preexisted the
Page 9 _ ) . Page 12
1 it 1 accident, in your opinion?
2 Q  Okay. 2 A es, sir. [ think that he had some
3 A And those were that he had sacralization 3 preexisting degencration, But that this was made worse with
4 of L3, and il T can over here, you should have [ive 4 the accident.
s nonribbed bearing lumbar vertehrae. Iere's one, two, 5 Q Okay.
6 three, four, five. This is, of coursc, normal, This 1s 6 CA So I'm trying Lo be fair to all parties.
7 not exactly what Mr. Neely has. Mr. Necly over here on the 7 1 think he had some fhat was there, but it wasn't hurting
8 fifth side, instead here in the back of having a discrete 8 him and now through the accident, his preexisting diseasc
9 transverse spinous process, it started to look more like v is made a little bit worse. He was also noted to have some
10 the sacrum down here, what we call sacralization, and it 10 mild fascial triEger points. These are basically muscles
11 started to be fused down here. 11 around the neck that get hard and spastic muc% like a
12 Q  Was he born with that, Doctor? 12 charley horse, and they would == of course, this particular’
13 A Yes, sir, almost cerlainly. 13 skeleton doesn't have muscles on it, but they would be
14 Q And the accident had nothing to do with 14 located roughly one centimeter to the left 03, C3, which
15 that? 15 would be right about here.
16 A No,sir. 16 Q hat did you do for that trigger point?
17 Q Docs this skeleton that you're referring 17 A Treated him with physical therapy, and |
18 to, does that fairly and accurately anatomically represent 1% believe a cortisone injection, tf f/'m nol mistaken,
19 Mr. Neely's skeleton? 19 Q  Okay. What is cortisone, Doclor, and
20 A It represents a normal skeleton. 20 how do you inject it, how decp do you go to inject it?
21 Q Okay. 21 A You go to the level that the muscle 1,
22 A From which then I can tell you what's 22 and unfortunately on a gentleman who is six foot, one and
23 not on Mr. Neety. 23 three hundred and thirty-cight pounds, there's a fair bit
24 Q Okay, All right. 24 of atapost tissuc or a fat layer that you've got to go
25 A If that's fair. 25 through, so we probably went in about an 1ach and a half’
o 2.0 aAN2A04-—D aaaat 1.0 1 Cilad Na/no/ne . Dana 2 ~f 11 Danall H- 7
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t deep. 1 Q Let me just briefly go over that.
2 Q Would that be a painful procedure for 2 Assume thal, number one. on that hill he was taken hy
3 him, Doctor? 3 ambulance from the scene of the wreck where he was
4 A I think it'd be moderatety painful for 4 rear-ended and laken to Methodist Medical Cenler
5 anybody. 5 complaining of headaches, low back pains, neck pains, and
6 Q All right. 6 he had three CT scans of the head, the neck and a
7 A But usually short-lived. 1 mean the 7 multi-planar or reconstruction €7, and he had x-rays of his
% shot hopefully in two or three days has more benefit than 8 low back. Assume that all those tests were done al the
9 it did negative. 9 hospital. Does that bill at the hospital, forty-three
10 %) Okay, And then when did you next see 10 f'Lfg/—nme elghty-eight, is that reasonable and necessargr
11 him after that occasion? 11 and related to the wreck, in your professional opinion?
12 A I saw him on the 12th of January, I 12 A Yes, sir, as does the ambulance for five
13 also saw him on the 6th of July, and I saw him on the 15th 13 hundred and thirty,
14 of November, 2005. 14 0 Okay. Well, do all of these bills, and - :
15 Q Doctor, when you saw him on all these 15 let mie just go through them and tell you what the bills are
16 occasions, did you see him for his ncck and his back 16 for based on what he will testify to, the emergency room
17 injurigs? 17 doctor, No. 3, was [ive seventy-nine; the radiology imaging
18 A Yes, sir, ‘ 18 was four fifteen for interpreting the scans, and then his
19 Okay. The last time he was in in 19 family doctor he saw cither three or four times complaining
20 November, this month, you alse saw him for his knee, | 20 of neck and low back pain [rom the wreck, the day afier the
21 believe? 21 wreck, a hundred and eighty-eight dollars, and Dr. Jonathan
22 A Yes, sir, . 22 Degnan, an orthopedic surgeon, saw him three or [our times,
23 Q  That has nothing to do with this 23 and then he went to therapy at the request of his family
24 accident, Doctor, to the best of our knowledge, so we don't 24 doclor, Dr. Martin, for right at three months, two and a
25 want 1o discuss the knee as [ar as you saw him, and if you 25 half months. That’s No. g7
Page 14 Page 17
1 would, ['m going to ask you about some bills in a few 1 A Right,
2 minutes and if you could have your secretary or office 2 Q  And Dr. Degnan prescribed a TENS unit
3 manager take out any bills from the knee, from your charge 3 that you later re-prescribed, lpbclicvc, for Mr. Necly.
4 for that date, that would be real helpful to us. 4 No. 9, your bill of fourleen seventy-eight less whatever,
5 A Finc. | can send you an amended bill 5 if there is a charge for the knee exam when you delete that
6 that -- 6 from your bill, and the Healthsouth Diagnostic Center for
7 Q That'd be fine. 7 an MRI of his low back on the 27th of October of '04,
8 A -- that subtotals that, 8 twelve sixty-five, and an MRI of his neck on January the
9 MR. ENGLISH: That will be fine. We'll 9 1{th of '05, and a rclerral to Dr. Jack Scariano for a
10 have the court reporter contact you about getting 10 neurological consultation where he saw him about two or
11 that, 11 three times in the amount of four hundred and nine dollars,
12 THE WITNESS: Fine. 12 Do thosc ligures appear to be reasonable and necessary and
13 So from the time you first saw him on 13 related to what you know about this man's treaiment for his
14 October the 12th of '04 until vou last saw him in November |14 neck and back injuries from this wreck?
15 the -- 15 A Yes, sir, they do.
16 A 15th, 16 MR. ENGLISIT: Let's introduce that as
17 Q - L5th of "05, it looks like he'd been 17 the next numbered exhibit. '
18 in to see you or your office on five or six different 18 (Fxhibit No. 2 wag filed.}
19 occasions? 19 And, Doctor, ['m not going to belabor
20 A That’d be a fair representation, 20 the point, but you've had some expenses here that you've
21 And just generally speaking, tell the |21 had this man incur at your dircction and on your
22 Court and jury how he was doing neckwise and low backwise |22 prescription, Tell me what the TENS unit ts that you
23 for injuries from this wreck whenever he came to see you 23 re-prescribed for him after il was initially prescribed by
24 these five or six times, Doctor. 24 Dr. Degnan,
25 A For the most part, he was unchanged. Ile 25 A Yes, this is a transdermal electrical
. Pagel5 ‘ Page 18
1 was actually prelly miserable. The exams were limited 1 nerve stimulator. In short, these are clectrical pads that
2 because he said that he had substantial pain. We tried as 2 you put on a particular area, They look much like EKG
3 best as possible to accommodate him. However, you know, 3 leads that you'd put on your chest, but you can put these
4 ?/Qu can only spend so much time with a patient catering to 4 on your neck, you can put them on your back. They get
5 his pain here in the office. You try two or three 5 hooked uF. These leads get hooked up to a unit aboul the
6 different ways to get the data that you need, but I mean he 6 size of a large cigarette packet that's got a couple of
7 hurt, We tried a fair bit of conscrvative care and 7 batteries in it. There are basically two contreols, a
8 semi-conservative or semi-invasive care. We tried physical 8 volume and infensily, and the patient is taught how to
9 therapy, multiple nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories, what 9 imaximize that as hest as possible. You try to crank this
10 they call tincture of time, some things just -- you know, 10 up as much as possible and then back it down just a hair,
1 %ilye them enough time and they go away, none of these 11 and what it does is it will stimulate the underlying
12 things seemed to work for him. 12 muscles via stimulating the nerves, and sometimes patients
13 Q Okay. Doctor, I hand you a list of 13 can feel contractures much like an eye twitch. You can
14 medical expenses incurred, I think through the 15th of this 14 feel that sort of tingle in your back or in your neck and
15 month when you last saw him, and I think your bill for 15 oflen that gives relief of pain. Sometimes people complain
16 fourtgen seventy-eight would be less than that amount or 16 that that's just because you've fatigued the muscle, it no
17 maybe more than that amount, but if you would, do not 17 longer has the ability lo become spastic. It's pooped,
18 include anything in -- we need an updated bill from you for |18 it's tired, so now it doesn't have to sit there and cramp
19 this. 19 anymore. Sometimes you can also make muscles stronger that
20 A Fine. 20 way, and you can also decrease cdema, the swollen, angry,
21 3 But look at those -- have you actuall 21 irritated tissucs that are underlying there.
22 looked at the underlying bills from that, Doctor? 22 % Doctor, whenever it shocks, is that a
23 A Yes, sir,” You were kind enough to give 23 painful shock, or 1s it just a mild shock?
24 me those before the deposition, and I've had a é:hancc to 24 A 1t can be if it's cranked up all the
25 leaf through those. 25 way. The patient should be taught that he should go to
Case-3:05-cv-00304—Decument 161 —Fied-06/02/06—Page 3011 Pagelb #-8
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L thal point of pain and back it down just a little bit so 1t neck first?
2 it's not painful for him. 2 A Yes, sir. I utilived the AM.A, Guides
i Q Is this helping him, according to what 3 to the Evaluation of Permancnt Impairment, Fifth Edition,
4 he reported to you? 4 to calculate his impairment. This 1s a Bible, if you will.
5 A Yes. He had reported that he had ) 5 It's a gold standard, so it's not just the doctor's thumb
6 benefits from it from when Dr. Degnan had prescribed it, & that says, oh, | think he deserves five percent here or
7 and thus we re-prescribed il ) 7 whatever, T carefully tried to delineate that and itemize
8 Q Doclor, cxplain to the Court and jury 8 that for you and anybody clse that was interested. Tn
9 these two MRI's of his neck and his low back that you 9 regard to his cervical spine, he has some limited range of
10 ordered. Exactly what is that, and how dees that work and 10 motion. He can’t bring his chin down all the way to his
11 what does it show? 11 chest. He can't bring his chin up all the way to the
12 A Sure. I think probably the nicest way 12 ceiling. He can't rotate fully to the left andright. e
13 to understand that would %e the following: If you took a 13 can't laterally bend this way, to the right and [eft
14 look at a patient much like a baker might look at a oaf of 14 either, and when you take all that and you use the A M.A.
15 bread, and they don't teach you medical art work in medical |15 Guides, he comes up with a sixteen percent impairment for
16 school, but I‘lftry here, that's a loaf of bread as best 16 lack of range of motion.
17 as | can draw it here, you might -- by looking at the 17 Q Oka?/. To the neck?
18 outside, you can thump i, you can put your stethoscope on 18 A Totheneck Yes, sir, I'm sorry, 1
19 it, you can squee#e it, and you might never learn that 19 believe that was your question, to the neck.
20 there was a baked-in walnut that fell into this batter, yel 20 Q Olay,
21 if I gave you a tool, like a knife, you could take several 21 A AndTapologize if T was vague. You
22 slices. These slices, the ones I've drawn here, show 22 also utilizing the AM.A, Guides, can add additional
23 norimal white bread, no problems. This slice, however, 23 impairment because of actual spine pathology or what they
24 would show you a Tittle sliver of walnut, the problem, the 24 call spine disorders, and in that regard, when you take a
25 defect, the pathology. This slice here would show you a 25 look at these sick discs that are there, he could have an
X o Page 20 . Page 23
1 big chunk of walnut, This slice here would show gou a 1 additional seven percent impairment, and again, I'm
2 sliver of walnut, and then you'd be back to white hread, 2 abridging this, I'm happy to go into how [ got that seven,
3 And in short, out of this study, only this portion, these 3 but --
4 three slices, would be abnormal, and the MRI does a similar 4 0 That's not necessary.
5 process with the neck or with the back, It takes this as a 5 A Bur it was seven pereent because of the
6 loaf of bread, and it makes several slices, and it images 6 specific spine disorders. One might sit there and say,
7 those, It's as if you took that slice out, took a black 7 well, iook, just add the two of them, you've got a range of
% and white picture of it, and then you could take a look at- 8 motion impairment and a spine disorder impairment, seven
9 those slices and see where is there a defect, where is 9 and sixteen should equal twenty-thres. Howevet, the A M.A,
10 there a problem. 10 Guides is (rying to be fair, and it realizes, look, if you
11 @ Did the MRI of his neck show any defects t1 already have one impairment, addin%(another one is not
12 that you feel are attributable to the wreck? 12 neeessarily arithmetically accurate. You need to look at
13 A Yes, sir. The MRI did verify that he 13 this aggregate, put il together, It's kind of like if you
14 had a C4-35 degenerative disc disease with left sided disc 14 already have an amputation here and you receive another
15 protrusion, . 15 amputation here, is that as much of a deficit to that
16 Q  What is a protrusion, Doctor? 16 patient as if you just had amputated a person from here
17 A Protrusion, this is if you think ol 17 onge, This hittle bit doesn't add that much.
18 these discs over here, Mr, English, as if this were a jelly 18 In short, these numbers aren't added, they're
19 donut. : 19 combined. They use a special table called the combined
20 Q Yes, sir, 20 values chart, Page 604, and that lotals a twenty-two
21 A And if this were degenerative and 21 percent impairment Lo the cervical spine.
22 squished in height and you were to squish your jelly donut, 22 Q  Would that he to the body as a whole?
23 the jelly has to go somewhere and the jelly will go oul the 23 A To the body as a whole, but for his
24 weakest part. It will go out the hole that was used to 24 pathology of his neck,
25 Till that donut. Well, that jelly coming out is going to 25 Q  Okay. Does he have any preexisting
Page 21 Page 24
1 go out the weakest part, which is, unfortunately in Mr. 1 impairment to the cervical sg)inc that you need to deduct
2 Neely, towards the ][))ack, and that's where his nerve roots 2 from that in order to be fair?
3 arc. The nerve roots are these little yellow structures 3 A Yos, sir. And that's what we tried to
4 right over here and because the jelly went out and is 4 do. We tried to aclually anticipate that, and we said,
5 pushing on there, it can cause an irritation o the nerve. 5 look, he's got some preexisting problems and because of the
6 What's fortunate, though, is that Mr. Neely does not suffer 6 congenital problems that also cxisted here that you didn't
7 what we call true radiculopathy te whereby he has a mash 7 specifically ask me about, but he's got some congenitel
8 defect wherehy any one of these nerves has a decreased & issues here as well. T doubt he had %ull range ol motion
9 reflex or decréased strength or he has numbness and 9 to begin with. I used my clinical judgment to Mgure out
10 tingling just dedicated to that nerve. So it's not likely 10 what do | think based on his history and based on the
11 that operating on these discs is going to substantially 11 patholoEy on the x-rays and ¢'I' scan, what was it likely
12 make him better. . 12 lhat he had cven though he said he had no problems,
13 Q Have you ever done an operation on a 13 probably he had some minor problems that he was unaware of,
14 disc in someone's neck, Doctor? 14 and in that regard, | found that he had a -- an eight
15 A Yes, sir, 15 percent unﬁ)mrment to the person as a whole in regard to
16 On how many occasions, roughly? 16 the cervical spine that was preexisting,
17 A Probably a hundred in the neck and a 17 Q Okay. So when you sublract that from
18 hundred in the lumbar spine. . 18 the twenty-two percent impasrment, what is his lotal
19 Q  Isit your professional opinion that 19 impairment to the person as a whole concerning his neck
20 surgery in his neck or his low back will not help him? 20 injury as we sit here Loday, in your opinion?
21 A I think he would have less than a fifty 21 A Yes, sir. Give me one second.
22 percent chance of improvement. 22 Q I'll refer you to Page 8, the second
23 Do you have an opinion, Doctor, as to 23 paragraph, Doctor.
24 whether or not this man suffers any permanent impairment as |24 A Thank you, Yes, and that can he
25 a result of the wreck that we're here about today to his 25 arithmetically accomplished whereby it would be a straight
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1 subtraction. Twenty-two minus eight would yield a fourtcen | 1 low back on the MRI's?
2 Eercent impairment to the whole pcrsen, but that just 2 A Yes, sir. I should gualify that,
3 happens to be by luck the chart indicates that it can be 3 however, in statm? that these disc protrusions [ labeled
4 done arithmetically in that example. 4 as being equivocally related whercgy il gets to he very
5 ° Q  And that's concerning the neck onty? 5 tough Lo stale that without a doubt he had no disc
6 A That's concerning the neck only, and 6 pathology hefore and that it was all related to the motor
7 that would mean that in short, he currently has twenty-two 7 vehicle accident, and thus in regard to particularly his
% percent. Ile, before the accident, had eight percent. That 8 cervical spine, I felt that you did need to dilute down
9 leaves you with fourteen percent that's attributed to the 9 some of that impairment. I thought that that was fair and
10 motor vchicle accident. 10 appropriate. Ycs, sir, ,
1 Q OkaK. 11 (% And you did. Okay. And we'll make
12 A To the neck only, 12 these the next numbered exhibits, Ms, Court Reporter, 3 and
13 Q Of July of '04? 13 4. And, Doctor, let's tulk about his low back impairment
14 A The motor vehicle accident of July '04. 14 now. What impairment do you feel like he has to his low
15 Yes, sir. 15 back as a result of the wreck that we're here about today,
16 Q Now, let's talk about his low back. Do 16 if any? :
17 you have an opinion as to whether or not he has any 17 A As he stands or as he stood before me on
18 permanent impairment to his low back as a result of the -- 18 the 15th of Novembcr, utilizing the same A M.A. Guides in a
19 well, first of all, what did the MRI of his low back show? 19 short abrid%%d form, he had an cight percent impairment.
20 A Yes, sir. The MRI of his lumbar spine 20 id he have any preexisting impairment
21 was performed on the 27th of October, 2004, 1t showed 21 to his low back?
22 thesc congenital anomalies that we talked about carlicr, it 22 A And | felt that he had no preexisting
23 showed some minor disc bulges at L2-3. Now, forgive me for |23 impairment in regard to his lumbar spine.
24 one second because this is LT, so L2-3 would be here. 24 Q Okay. Would that be to the body as a
25 There'd be a little bit of a bulge. Again, it would stick 25 whole?
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1 out in the back, and it really would not irritate this 1 A Again, to the body as a whole as it
2 nerve very much. At L3-4, there was some minor disc bulges | 2 relates to the Iumbar spine,
3 and at L4-5 down here. It also indicated that at these 3 Q Do you have an opinion, Doclor, as to
4 levels 1o the outside over here where the nerves exit, this 4 whether or not this man has reached maximum medical
5 little hole, this bony hole right here that there was some 5 improvement and if so, when?
6 encroaclument because of some pinching, that this did 6 A Yes, sit. | betieve that he did reach
7 sliﬁhtly pinch these nerves in the hole coming oul, what we 7 maximum medical improvement, T believe that he did so --
8 call normal foraminal stenosis, and those are also at all & Q Whal was the date of that, sir?
9 three of those same levels. 9 A On--I'm sorry, | apologize, I'm trying
10 Q  Okay. Doctor, did ﬂ u actually perform 10 o be as precise as 1 can be. That would be on'the [5th of
11 the MRI of his neck and his back, or did you have it done 11 November, 2005, whenever we caleulated this impairment
12 by another doctor? _ 12 rating, .
13 A That was done by Healthsouth Diagnostic 13 Q  When you say maximum medical
14 Center, by a Board certified radiologist, 14 improvement, Doctor, what does that mean for the layman?
15 Q  And what was his name? 15 A Surg, that means that in our
16 A Glemn E. Jung. In fact, he has 16 professional opinion, it's not likely that he's going to
17 additional expertise in musculoskeletal radiology. 17 get much better. Also, it means that it's not likely he's
18 Q And did you actually review the films 18 going to get much worse directly attributed to the motor
1% that he did? 19 vehicle accident. | mean all of vs are getting worse with -
20 A Yes, sir. | looked at both the filins 20 time because of age, ¢t cetera, but in particular, with
21 and the report. 21 regard to the motor vehicle accident, we think that he's
22 MR. ENGLISH: Let's make as the next 22 pretty much stabilized. We don't think he's going to get
23 numbered exhibit, Exhibit No. 3, the MRI of the 23 much worse, we don't think he's going to get much better.
24 lumbar spine, wiuch was done on 10-27-04, and 24 Q Did you refer this man to a pain clinic?
25 Exhibit No. 4, the MRI of the cervical spine that 25 A Yes, sir, I did,
: Page 27 Page 30
1 was donc on 1-10-05. 1 Q0 Why? .
2 THE WITNESS: Thank you. Do you want me 2 A Because he still has pain and that is,
3 to remove that from my chart? 3 unfortunately, where you send paticnts who you can't get
4 MR. ENGLISIE: No. We'll furnish it to 4 better.
5 the court reporter. 5 Q  Have you done cverything you can for
6 (Exhibits No. 3 and 4 were tiled.) & Lhis man to alleviate his pain in his neck and his back
7 And, Doctor, do these MRI films that you 7 from this wreck?
8 reviewed and the reports confirm }/our opinions thal you're 8 A Yes, sir. . o
9 pgiving today concerning this man”? 9 Q  Okay. Who did you refer him to?
10 A {(cs, sir, to within thal same reasonable 10 A I believe we sent him to Dr. Browder.
11 depree of medical certainty. Ycs, sir. 11 And is Dr, Browder a pain specialist
12 Q Is that somcthing you can actually see 12 here in Knox County?
13 that you saw on these (wo MRI filims concerning this man? 13 A Yes, sir,
14 A Oh, this is without a doubt objective. 14 Q Do you have an opinion, Doctor, as to
15 He has disc bulges, and 1 doubt anybody would refute that, 15 whether or not this man is capable of gainful employment at
16 The ong thing that you can’t definitively state, just based 16 this time as a psychiatric technician or working wit
17 on looking at the film, is was this old, was this new. 17 psychiatzric patients?
15 That requires judgment, it requires taking a history, and 18 MR. WOODFIN: Objection. That's beyond
19 that gets to be where the report itself might not say that 19 the scope of his expertise, but go ahead and
20 this 1s motor vehicle accident related. This is not -- 20 answer the question.
21 that's why my report says that. 21 MR. ENGLISH: Go ahead, please.
22 Q@  Okay. Assuming he was in a motor 22 A T'will state that T do fecl comfortable
23 vehicle accident, he was hit from the rear hard enough (o 23 answering that question, and 1've seen him multiple times,
24 break his scat back, is that consistent with the protruding 24 and I believe that he does not have the ability to Ee
25 discs and the bulging discs you found in his neck and his 25 gainfully cimployed as a psychiatric technician, as I would
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1 understand a psychiatric technician would need o 1 henefits of that study, the physician ¢an use his thumb and
[ 2 potentially have to subdue potentially unruly psychiatric 2 try various limited duty attempts. Somctimes he
3 patients, would have to assist them in foeding, have to 3 undershoots, somctimes he overshoots. I was my opinion
4 assist them in lifting them on occasions to beds and 4 that he could not tolerate the fifteen pounds of repetitive
5 commodes and/or move them from one place to another for cat 5 lifting that we attempted to get him fo do in July, so [
6 scans and things of that nature. & overshot the mark in July: ['asked him to do too much.
7 Q  Doctor, when you last saw him the 15th 7 S0 you think he should have been
8 of November, did you give him a permanent no duty, no work 8 restricted from doing anything from the first time that you
9 status with certain impairments? 9 saw him ug until the time that you last saw him here in
10 A Yes, sir. 10 November?
11 Q Restrictions? 11 A No, sir, 1 think il was appropriate to
12 A Yes, sir. 12 try it in July. I don't think that ther¢ was an error in
13 Q  What were those restrictions? And T'Il 13 medical decision making. I think that T just was overly
14 ask you to refer back to your July 6 note, the specifics of 14 hopeful that he would be able to do that.
15 that, sir. 15 Q When you say he is not able to do
16 A On July 6th, it was written [or no 16 anything, are you saying he needs to sit in a bed for a
17 repetitive bending, stooping, squatting, or lifting greater 17 complete da\Xf and not do any activity al all?
18 than fifteen pounds. He should be allowed frequent changes 18 A hat I'm saying is that this gentleman
19 in position. 19 Erobabli{] can'l even tolerale sitling in bed for eight
0 - Q Are those still the restrictions 1hat 20 hours. Hc's going to have to sit, stand. Ile's going to
21 you had him on permanently at this tinke, sir? 21 have to move his self 10 a recliner. Hc's going to havé to
22 A IfIcan, sir, allow me just a fow 22 walk, he's going 1o have to pace. In thatl regard, no to
23 seconds to check my notos. 23 your question, simply, and similarly at the workplace do 1
24 Q  Okay. 24 think he could sit and just answer a phonge, I don't think
25 A No. In effort - I should state that 25 so0. lle's going to have to stand, he's going to have to
Page 32 Page 35
1 those were amended further to wherchy he was placed on no 1 sit, he's going Lo have to lic down lor a short period of
2 duty on the 15th of November, 2005, 2 time. Iknow that I couldn't employ him in a clerical
3 Q What does that mean, sir, in your 3 position in my office, and T certainly couldn't employ him
4 opinion? 4 to do any manual labor in my office.
5 A Meaning that I really don't think he 5 Q@ Do you have any lraining as a vocational
6 could do anything. When | saw him in the office, let's 6 assessor? .
7 say, on the 15th of November, I saw him for [orty-five 7 A Indirect training in the fact that I
8 minutes to an hour and during that time the man {usl could 8 have substantial -- how can we put i1, in the fact that I
9 not sit or lay still or stand still, He was constantly 9 deal with a lot of vocational reports. [ discuss with
10 having to change positions. Idon't think that he would 10 vocational rehabilitution counselors various oplions and
11 have been employable in that regard. He would have been a |11 how they orthopedically or mechanically can be potentially
12 distraction to any workplace with as [requently as he had 12 adjusted or improved, so I have a [air hit of experience,
13 to move to try to keep himself in some semblance of 13 but, no, sir, I'm not a vocational rehabilitation
14 comfort. 14 counselor.
15 Q  Doctor, do you have an opinion as to 15 Q Do you have any training in what jobs
16 whether or not this man will suffer pain in the future as a 16 are available for disabled people in this area?
17 result of these injuries? 17 A Thave a good general idea. Do [ have
18 A Yes, sir. [think that that 18 the ability to know ﬁlat al this particular time that one
19 unfortunately also is permanent, and that's the reason wh 19 company "X" has a job that's opened, no, sir,
20 we sent him to a pain management consutltation through Dr. |20 Q Is that gencral ability similar to what
21 Browder. 21 any of us who have an understanding as to what work
22 Will he require medications to alleviate 22 involves has? o
23 the pain of this wreck and injuries in the [uture? 23 A I'would think it would be similar to
24 A Most likely. 24 what any other Board certified orthopedic surgeon has'in
25 Q Havc you done cverything that you can 25 the area.
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1 for him at this time from an orthopedic standpoint, Doctor? 1 Q No more or no less?
2 A Yes, sir. 2 A No more, no less.
3 MR. ENGLISH: ! believe that's all, 3 Q  And as far as whether or not you've ever
4 CROSS CXAMINATION 4 actually performed a vocational analysis on someone, I
5 BY MR. WOOD¥IN: 5 think that would be no?
6 Dr. Koenig, my name's Clinl Wood(in, and 6 A Thatiscorrect.
7 I represent Mr. Curd and Fox of Oak Ridge in this lawsuit. 7 You mentioned his inability to do these
8 Mr. Curd was driving the vehicle that rear-ended Mr. 8 aclivitics, and I'm thinking that's primarily based on the
¢ Neely's vehicle. Tf T'understood your testimony correctly 9 complaints of pain that he's relating to you, correct?
10 about his restriction, you have changed the restriction 10 A Based on the complaints of pain coupled
11 that you had him on since July of 2004 as of 11-15-05; is 11 with the objective findings on MRL ¢ scan and plain {ilms
12 that correct? 12 as well as a physical examination that's repetitively done.
13 A That was correct. 1 just want to make 13 here are no objective indications which
14 sure T heard the dates correetly,” He was -- we attempted 14 would lead you to conclude that if he tried to do anylhing,
15 to put him back to work on a limited duty basis, ver 15 he would hurt himsell, are there?
16 limited, in July, and I responded as such to Mr. English's 16 A Not within the fiftcen pounds that he
17 question. He said as of July, what was his duty status, 17 was allowed to do back in July. I don't think that the
13 and then on the 15th of November, 2005, he was placed on no [18 fifteen pounds would hurt him. I just don’t think that he
19 duty. 19 was able to do the fiftcen pounds.
20 And that original restriction didn't 20 Q And that's still the same in November of
21 change until November 15th, 2005, correct? 21 2005, when you last saw him? There's nothing ohjective
22 A Thal's correct. Please understand that 22 that you can point to that says if this man tries to do
23 this gentleman has never had a Functional Capacity 23 something, he's going to hurl himself?
24 Evaluation, which would objectively describe exactl?r what 24 A Tthink if he tried to 1ift more than
25 this gentleman can and cannot do. When you don't have the 25 fifteen pounds again, 1 think that he would fail again.
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You're correct, I don't have a Functional Capacity
Evaluation, which [ think you're alluding to, which is an
objective lest to state no, he can lift eleven pounds but
he can't lift twelve pounds. There are studies that are
out there that can do that. .

Q  His complaints of pain and the pan
behaviors that he exﬁibils 1o you are, to a certain degree,
subjective based on what he's revealing to you by his
actions, correct?

o . Page 40
1 day, the surgeon is going to use his thumb, 1'm going to
2 it there and say thal’s approximately thirty degrees worth
3 of flexion. I'm not going to use other instruments like
4 inclinpmeters and goniometers to test, Whenever I'm
5 actually asked to tabulate, to calculafe what an impairment
6 is, I'm going to do it by the book and ['m going (o sit
7 there and say, look, let's do it with an actual measuring
% stick, not my thumb. That also would account for the minor
9 differences because we're talking primarily about ten

10 A To acertain degree, Yes, sir. 10 degrees plus or minus, and that would probably be either
11 Q And you couple that with what you sce on 11 due to some slight change in the patient or the difference
12 the test and come up with your opiniens? i2 between my thumb and an actual ruler or what we call a
13 A Yes, sir. 13 goniometer or inclinometer,
14 And 1 think you stated to Mr. English 14 Q  How much degree motion docs he lack in
15 the tests by themselves don't give a complete picture; you 15 his neck?
16 have to tie that in with what he tells you about his 16 A Well, on which day, sir?
17 condition"? 17 Q  Let's say on the last day,
18 A Without a doubt, history is important, 18 A Onthe [ast day. All right, fine. T
19 as is the physical exam. They tcach you in medical school 19 would be glad to do that for you. Allow me to just look at
20 you don't treat an MRI, you don't treat a chart, you treat 20 my notes. All right. On the 't 5th of November, the patient
21 a patient. ) 21 was able to tolerate twenty degrees of flexion, T'111
22 Q  So what the paticnt is telling you about 22 10 show you what roughly twenty degrees of flexion is, 1
23 his condition and about what he's feeling is an import to 23 do have to tell you that 1 can't put an inclinometer and
24 you in giving an opinion about the causation, 1s it not? 24 read it on myself, so 1'm giving you a rough approximation,
25 A It is certainly a factor. Yes, sir. 25 but in short, and I'm going to turn myself to the side so
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1 Q  In this case, given the findings on the 1 %!ou «can see this, this is roughly twenty degrees of :
2 test which don't show any broken hones or any aculc 2 Texion, this would be thirty and this would be forty and
3 abnormalitics, the history is what allows you to tie it 3 this would be fifty, fifty would be full. So in short,
4 into this accident; is that correet? 4. he's missing the terminal or the last thirty degrees of
5 A Tt does show same equivocal acuie 5 flexion. In regard to extension, this is ncutral. He
6 abnormalities, and those are clearly labeled as equivocal. 6 tolerates aboul lwenly degrees of extension. That means
7 Q In your report, you say they're . 7 he's missing thirty, forty, fifty and sixty degrees of
8 equivocal because they mught be related to degencrative 8 normal extension, so he's missing that amount.
9 changes, they might be related to the accident? o Q _ And in performing these tests, | think
10 A Yes, sir. 10 you've referenced il in I)(/our notes, you're asking the
11 Q  And then you listen Lo the patient 11 patient to move his neck, and he's doing it according to
12 telling you I was not hurting before this accident, I'm 12 his effort as much as he can.
13 hurting now, and that's how you tig it m? i3 A lle's doing it to the best of his -
14 A Yes, sir. That is a key factor. 14 ability. He's doing it multiple times, and the maximum
15 However, pleasc understand despite the fact that he told me 15 amount of movement is registered. ‘
16 he did not hurt in regard to his neck, [ tried to be fair 16 Q  And I think you put in your notes that
17 to the patient as wel% as fair to your client, as fair to 17 he was making com;alaims o you of, "Oh, no, that's it, 1
18 Mr. English, as fair to the system. 1've got to meel my 18 can't do an*more"'.
19 maker somewhere down the pike, and I try to be fair to him, |19 A ¢s, sir. And, of course, that means
20 too. And in short, T said to myself, you know what, 1 20 that you push within a certain level, and T mean I'm not
21 don’t think that he, the patient, can accuratelz assess 21 here to crack a whip on the gentleman. I'm going to try to
22 this in regard to his necﬁ as well as I can, 1 know for a 22 report this as accurately as possible, and you are correct
23 fact, or I should state within a reasonable degree of 23 in the fact that he did verbalize that he didn't want to go
24 medical certainty, this is your field, not mine, that he 24 further than it hurt.
25 probably did not have full range of motion of his neck 25 Q  And that's a day he knows he's being
Page 39 o Page 42
1 given the pathology that was there before, and what | trie 1 evaluated for impairment that you're doing that obviousty?
2 to do was discount what he told me appropriately and 2 A Thatis correct. I do believe he knew
3 validly and do it in concordance with tll)qe AMA. Guidesas | 3 that he was being evaluated that day.
4 they direet and come up with a number (hat hopefullir does 4 Q  Hisclfort is not something that you can
5 adequately represent this gentleman's impairment as he 5 measure objectively, can you?
6 stands on that day with numbers that specifically state how 6 A A Functional Capacity Evaluation docs a
7 much is attributed to what was preexisting and with numbers | 7 pretty good job of measuring that,
& that could then be figured out as to what happened through - | 8 hent you're asking him to move his neck
9 the motor vehicle accident. 9 up and back, there's no way you can objectively measure how
10 Q  Speaking about his neck, and I think you 10 much etfort he's giving? o
11 mentioned it, you say as he's standing here this day -- 1n A No way that [ can on that limited exam
12 A Onthe 15th of November. | apolo%i_lm. 12 in the office. Thal's correct. ITowever, again, in an
13 Q I understand what you're saying, The . 13 effort to give you the most complete answer, a Functional
14 range ol mation, though, can differ from day to day, can it 14 Capacity Evaluation does have the ahility to determine
15 not? 15 clfort, validity of effort and thus also validate the
16 A It can, 16 score.
17 Q And [ think you're looking at your 17 Q Some of the other measures of validity
18 chart, and you can correct me if I'm wrong, his range ol 1% are history Lhat's given to you and its consistency with
19 motion was aclually greater on the visit previous than it 1% other history as well as his eflfort and tests that you give
20 was on the visit of November 15, 2005, in his neck. 20 him from an erthopedic standpoint, correet?
21 A In certain arcas, you're correct. In 21 A Yes, sir. S
22 certain areas, you'rc incorrect. For instance, thirty 22 Q In his first visit with you, he talked
23 degrees of rotation to the left of midling is maintained on 23 about the accident. T belicve he told you that he'd broken
24 both days. Please also understand the following: Whenever |24 his tailbong back in 1982; is that right?
25 a patient is seen on days other than an impairment rating 25 A I do remember a reference to that.
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Q Show the jury, if you would, what we're
talking about there.

A Sure. If you don't mind, I'm going to
turn this around this way. This is his tail%(mc. 'l
turmn it to the side because I think that that's going to
show up better for the camera. The tailbone t{lplcally is
broken here at the junction of the sacrum -- I'll do it
this way. Herg's where your sacrum ¢nds. This is your
coccyx. Usually there's a fracture right here whereby this
then tips forward and comes up this way. That's whal we're
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visit that he was treating with Dr. Degnan and that he was
giving complaints that, quole, "Went in one car and out the
other™?

A Yes, sir. That's his history.
¢ Did youalso review the report from the _
emergency medical technicians that saw him at the scene of
the accident?
A I know that I reviewed the emergency
roem report per se. If you have a reference Tor me to «-
Let's stick with that emergency room

11 talking about. 11 report, I think that's what my notes said, and I just
12 Q And ybu don't know how that happened? 12 musread it. ’
13 A Nao, sir, nor did I really need to 13 A Okay.
14 evaluate that. That was taken as part of his history, and 14 Q Again, looking at that with rcgard to
15 that is if you will, sir, effectively an orthopedic mile 15 the lack of loss of consciousness, there was also a note
16 away from where his other pathology is. You can't be off 16 that there's minimal damage to his vehicle in that report
17 this muych as an orthopedic surgeon and not get in trouble, 17 as well?
18 So in short, this ends up -- he could have told me he 18 A Yes. That's what I noted in the
19 fractured his great toc as well and it impacted his 19 emergency room reports dated the 12th of July, 2004,
20 impairment the same way. He received neither additional 20 Q  He then saw you ten days later on’ the
21 nor a discount in his impairment rating because of that 21 22nd of October of 20033: correct?
22 1982 fracture down herc. 22 A Yes, sir.
23 Q 1l he had had some trauma which caused a 23 Q  You made a finding there thal there was
24 jarring of his spine, would that not be important to you? 24 a bruise on his back that you didn't see on Lhe [irst
25 A Al history would be important. Yes, 25 visit, if | read that correctly.
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1 sir. 1 A Yes, sir,
2 Q And that could possibly impact the 2 Q Okay. Any cxplanation (or that?
3 status of his discs or the level of degeneration (hat was 3 A Sometimes it will take a little bit
4 present that you saw? 4 tonger for bruising to occur, especially on a gentleman
5 MR. ENGLISH; I'm going lo object to 5 this large. If the bruising occurred at’a muscle that was,
6 possibly. Many things couldh possibly impact it. 6 let's say, an inch and a hall deep, sometimes it takes
7 Q  Assuming that to be correct that he had 7 awhile for the bloody pigment, the hiliverdin and the
8 some trauma to his tailbone, you would expect that there 8 hemoglobin to penctrate up to the skin. That's onc
9 would be some trauma on the discs, would you not? ¢ possibility.
10 A Not necessarily. I think I couldtell 10 Q  Three months and ten days?
11 you that there would be a fair number of patients that 8] A Tagree with you. That's probably
12 could have a coceyx [racture and have no other spinal 12 pushing il.
13 pathology, but you are correct in the fact that if you had 13 Q@ Sothere's really no explanation why
14 enough trauma to break a bone here, it's possible to bave | 14 that bruise is there?
15 enough trauma elsewhere to do damage elsewhere. Yes, sir. |15 A No,sir.
16 Q  [Hspecially a man this size? 16 Q  Okay. [ think you had wanted to start
17 A Yes, sir. : 17 treating him for his neck in November of 2004, and I think
18 Q Someone who's three hundred and thirty, 18 you explained that you did one part at a time and [inally
19 three hundred and [ilty pounds, if there was trauma 19 then the neck came available, but it looked like November
20 sufficient to crack thetr tailbone, that would also have un 20 was when you first wanted to do that?
21 impact on their lower lumbar spine, would it not? 21 A Yes, sir. That would be typical that we
22 A Il you could use the word possible, 1 22 would add one body part per visit.
23 could say yes. 23 ¢ In looking at your notes, it looks like
24 And you just don't know because you 24 for whatever rcason that day, there was a child
25 didn't find out one way or the other? 25 accompanying him that was runming around in the examining
Page 45 Pagc 48
1 A That's correct. 1 room, and you didn't get to work on his neck that day?
2 Were you shown pictures of the vchicles 2 A Yes, sir.
3 in this accident? 3 Q e had had his MRI for his low back at
4 A | believe [ was, and if I did, I would 4 thal time, and that's whén you noted he had this congenital
5 have referenced that. 1f you'll give me thirty seconds - 5 defect in his lumbar sping?
6 Q I believe you were -- okay. 6 A Yo, sir,
7 A T apologize that I don't have the 7 Q  And that was there before the accident,
8 immediate recall to say yea or nay. [ do believe | was 8 as you've told us?
9 shown pictures. However, if 1 was shown pictures, [ do 9 A Yes, sir
10 believe I would have recorded them as such. 1've looked 10 Whether or not that was giving him a
t1 through the first two notes that 1 had where you would 11 problem, you only know bhased on the history that he gave
12 think that he would have presented them on the first or 12 you that it was not problematic, and that's what you're
13 second office visit, and 1 don't have that recorded. So 13 basing that on?
14 1'm sorry that my memory cannot definitively state whether |14 A Yes, sir.
15 or not I was shown pictures of the motor vehicle accident. 15 Q  You starled focusing on the neck in _
14 Q  Okay. Back again to that first visit, 16 December of 2004, and you said you doubted there was any
17 he also told you that he lost consciousness at thal time, 17 cervical radiculopathy present, correct?
1% did he not? 18 A Yo, sir.
19 A Yes, sir, 19 Q And that means there wasn't anything
20 Q You have reviewed the emergency room 20 pressing on the nerves from what you saw on the MRI which
21 record either from receiving it from the attorney or from 21 would cause him pain and numbness in his arms?
22 Mr. Neely himself that noted in that record that he did not 22 A Yes, sir.
23 lose consciousness? 23 But he was making complaints of pain and
24 A That's also correct, 24 numbness in his arms?
25 Q IIe was reporting to you on that first 25 A Yes, sir. That would be what we were --
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i or what thc A M.A, Guides would call nonverifiable 1 A Yes, sir.
2 radicular pain. . . 2 Q  Any others besides that?
3 Q@ He says it hurts or in this case, it's 3 A Yes,sir. There was - give me one
4 numb, but %({)u have no way to identify that by test? 4 second. On the 2nd of November, 2004, it basically says,
5 A es, sir, or that the test that you've 5 "Continue prior Llimited duty status.”" That's just a way of
6 done don't adequately describe what he has. 6 shortculting it so you don't fill out the paperwork so
7 I think you made a note there in 7 much,
8 December of 2004 that he was turning his neck to the left 8 Q Sure.
9 and having numbness in his right arm? 9 A [apologize for the ton of paperwork
10 A Yes, sir 10 that this gentleman has,
11 Q  And that that's not clinically a finding 11 Q  Take your time,
12 in which you could match up, is it? 12 A Onthe 21st of February, 2005, he was
13 A Please forgive me for not understanding 13 placed again on continued prior limited duty with a
14 the term -- _ 14 Eandwri'gten form, I should say with a form tilled out by |
15 Q It's probably a bad question, If a man 15 hand. Similarly, on the 6th of June, 2005, and then on 1he.
t6 says I'm turning my head to the left and he says that mg 16 6th of July 2005, it was written in more detail to have no
17 right arm is numb, that doesn't make any sense, does it 17 repetitive bending, stooping, squatting, an allowance for
18 A There could be a whole constellation. 18 frequent changes of position, no lifting greater than
19 You're correct in the fact that that's not the typical 19 fifteen pounds. Does that answer your guestion?
20 presentation. Ilowever, to state that it couldn't happen is 20 Q. It does, if those are the only Wwritlen
21 not correct. 21 restrictions that you've given him.
22 Q  Anything could happen? 22 A And then onthe 18th of November,
23 A Yes, sir, 23 whenever I saw -- wait, on the 18th of November apparently
24 Q But in this case, it wasn't happening on 24 he may have wanted another form filled out or whatever.
25 Mr. Neely? 25 That was three days after [ tast saw him. 11 said continue
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1 A I don't know that I can state that 1 the prior limited duty status as referenced to the 15th of
2 nothing was happening with Mr. Neely. What I can state was | 2 November.
3 that there was no classic presentation that was happening. 3 Q So arc you continuing what you had
4 Q  That's the nice doclor way of saying 4 always continued, or are you changing him in July of -- |
5 that it just didn't make any sense. 5 mean November? [ understood your lestimony to be you were
6 A I'mnot trying to be a nice doctor. I'm 6 changing it.
7 just trying to be a fair doctor, 1 apologize -- 7T A It would be based on what was last
8 Q@  Well, that's the fair doctor way of % written and last noted and what was last written and last
9 saying il just doesn't make any scnse? 9 noted was on the 15th of November, 2003, that he was placed
10 A 1 don't believe that was a question, so 10 on no duty and that that was going to be continued.
11 T'{l just let that %o. 3} Q  But you didn't write a change for him
12 Q  Would you agree with that statement? 12 where it changed [rom fifteen pounds with no repetitive
13 A I have no & aijﬁty to disagree with that i3 bending, stooping, ¢l cetera?
14 statement. 14 A On the 15th of November, 2005, you're
15 When you saw him in January, it didn't 15 correct in the fact that 1 don't have a document showin,
16 seem like anything you were offering this man or telling 16 that there was a specific change that was done on that date
17 him was helping him in any way? 17 on that form. Howcver, I do have a document in more detail
18 A ”l[’)hal's correct, 18 than just handwritten. 1 have a typewrittcn report that
19 Q@  He had a positive Waddell test in 19 shows that it was changed.
20 January? 20 So do you give this man that report and
21 A Ys, sir, 21 these records when he (rics to go get a job?
22 Q  Waddell tests are what doctors like 22 A Typically what's done is -- well, yes
23 yourself use to see if someong is giving you a symptom that |23 and no. Both are available to him. He can have whatever
24 they shouldn't be giving you based on a test that you're 24 he wants. What's tgpmally done is there's a short [orm
25 doing; is that a fair way to say that? 25 that's filled out by hand and then days later a typewritien
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1 A That's a fair way of saying it, 1 report gets generated.  Typically what happens, workplaces
2 Q  And that was occurring with Mr. Necly? 2 demand something quicker, If this had been a workmans'
3 A Yes, sir, on the 12th of January, 2003, 3 comp injury, they would want something that day, and we'd
4 Q T noticed in that record too you almost 4 handwrite something. This was not a workmans' comp injury
5 pul him at maximum medical improvement at that date, if I s and thus the staff may have felt, look, there's no urgency
6 saw that correctly, 6 to writing such a form again for him on that date that he
7 - A Yeos,sir there's a statement that says 7 left, because we knew in a few days (hat it would be
8§ becausc he's not accessing the additional recommended care 8 produced on a typewritten record.
9 or doesn't have the funds to access additional care, that 0 Q@ Your stafl knew what you were going to
10 he may - I believe it said -- well, I'll just quole it 10 say?
11 directly, the patient is made aware that at this time he 3 A Well, hold on for a second. Qften the
12 may wel! have reached maximum medical improvement in regard 12 can from my handwritten notes. However, I don't know how
13 to the above orthopedic diagnosis, 13 they would be ablc to get that from my handwritten notes on
14 Q And you hadn't changed his restriction 14 that particular day.
15 from fifteen pounds to no duty after July of 2003, had you? 15 Q I guess what we need to know, Doctor, is
16 A No, sir. 16 are you telling the Court and jury that there was some
17 Q 1 think you'd actually given him a 17 change from July of 2005 10 November of 2005, which made
18 writlen restriction that said no lilting over filteen 18 you take this man off of any possible activity that he
19 pounds, if T remember correctly? 19 would want to cngage in?
20 A On which date? For instance, on the 20 A Allow me just a moment to try lo --
21 12th of October 20047 21 Q  Sure
22 Q  That was the very first time that you 22 A -- find a documented answer for that.
23 saw him, correct? 23 What I have, sir, is a patient that I have tried to get
24 A Yes,sir. 24 back to work multiple times. T've tried 1o get him to be
25 Q  Correct? 25 comfortable at worllc. I've tried to get him {o be
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1 comfortable at work with attempts at weight loss, with 1 whatsoever noted. [t was unlikely he was going to
2 attempts of trials ol epidural steroids, both to the 2 gol better. It was unlikely despite our atiempts
3 cervical spine and lumbar spine, physical therapy, tincture 3 at %ptting him back to work al some limited basis
4 of time despite -- and I've tried to be fair to everybody 4 at Tifteen pounds that he was going to he dble to
s and tried gettm% him to work to some level. Despite all 5 do the work and feel good about il and, you know,
6 those attempts, he reports back to me on the 15th of 6 say, hey, look, T can do this without hur{ing.
7 November that he has unchanged low back pain, unchanged 7 I short, everything was right in the
§ neck pain. In that regard, if I'can't get him better and 8 fact that there was enough time had evolved,
Y gcl him back to the workplace, I'm 1n a little bit of a ) enough studies had been done, enoiigh physical
10 dilemma. I can’t keep pushing this gentleman. Ican't 10 therapy had been given that a decision could be
11 kee saiy'mg no, you've Fot Lo go back, you've é;o[ o go 11 made on a medical basis to say all right, it
12 back. I've got to say all right, Tine, we've tried to do 12 doesn't look like we're going to be able to get
13 everything we can, we've tried to gently persuade you to 13 you back to work,
14 get back to the workplace, we've tried to get you to 14« You hadn't done any objective tests for
15 physical therap)f',l we've dong cverything we can, you're not (15 him since the MRI of his cervical spine that was done,
16 gelling better. There comes a point where you have to fish 16 cotrect, since November of 20057
17 or cut bait, and in short, sir, I don't think that this 17 A 1l you're talking about radiographic
t4 gentleman’s going to be able to go back to the workplace 18 tests, that would be correct. However, of course, he
19 and be productive. 19 received an objcelive evaluation here n the office in
20 And you made that change on the day that 20 regard to muscle strength testing, reflexes, things of that
21 he was asked by his lawyer to come and sec you and be 21 nature.
22 evaluated for this lawsuit? 22 Q His chronic obesity obviously gives him
23 A I made that change bascd on the fact 23 problems as well with his spine?
24 (hat cnough time had clapsed from when his accident 24 A Yes, sir. [However, thal should actuall
25 occurred on July 2004 to November 2005, roughly a year and |25 be limited to his lumbar spine. It's unlikcly that his
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1 ahalf, call it a year and four months, whatever it works 1 obesity significantly alters his cervical spinc. There's
2 oul to be. There was plenty of time to allow this 2 not much weight that your head carries,
3 gentleman to try W gel better. He did not get better 3 Q hat did you call it, atapost tissug; is
4 despite appropriate conservative care and semi-invasive 4 that correct?
5 carc to where there comes a point and some would have said 5 A Yes, sir.
6 that perhaps [ should have come to this point earlier and 6 Q  Depending on how much is there, that
7 said you know what, you should have given him no duty much, 7 could affect his cervical range of motion, could it not?
& much carlicr, some might have said as early as six months, 8 A That could to a limited degree.
9 1 tried harder to get him back to work. T tried -- this 9 @ The jury's going to have a'look at this
10 gentleman is a very complicated person, very complicated 10 man so they'll be able to iook at his neck and see how much
Il case. He's got congenital anomalies, he's not getting 11 of that is there.
12 better. I tricd as hard as possible to get him back to the 12 A Right. And please understand that that
13 workplace. 13 also would be part and parcel of what you fell would be --
14 Q But on the day that he came in for his 14 I did feel that he had some preexisting limited range of
15 evaluation is when you made the change? 15 motion.
16 A Beeausc on - 16 Q_ T think you related that to the
17 Q That's yes or no. You can explain it 17 congenital defect, though, did you not?
18 later, but yes or no, did you make the change to no duty on 18 A Related it to preexisting conditions,
19 the date he was sent in by his lawyer for an impairment 19 Of course, the largest compaonent of which would be the
20 evaluation {or this lawsuit? 20 congenital defects. Yes, sir,
21 A The answer to that question is yes, 21 I didn't see anything in your record
22 MR. ENGLISH: Explain your answer, 22 that said you limited it because of falty tissue in his
23 Doctor, it you would. 23 neck. _
24 THE WITNESS: Sure. 24 A No, sir. You know, you also try to sit
25 MR. woODEIN: I']l let you do that on 25 there and you try to be thorough, you try not 1o be wordy.
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1 Rediréct Examination. This man is also -- 1 Some people would state that I'm a wordy as it is, and in
2 MR. ENGLISH: Well, 1o, excuse me, Mr. 2 short, & tried to give you as concise a plan as possible,
3 Woodfin, for the sake of continuity so the jury 3 Also, sir, you (ry not to necessarily be crucl in a written
4 doesn't get confused, I would like Tor him to 4 document that you know is going to be pourcd over by a
5 cxplain 1t now and then you can delete it if the 5 bunch of people to sit there and il there's a way you can
5 judge wants you to, 6 clegantly state that he's got a preexisting problem and not
7 MR. WOODFIN: Well, I'll object to it. 7 sit there and say all right and part of it"s because of the
8 You can say what you want now -- 8 layer of atapost tissue and just sit there and say he's got
9 MR. ENGLISH: Go ahead and cxplain it. 9 4 preexisting impairment of this and this much, and you can
10 THE WITNESS: Well, I'm confused enough 10 do it elegantly as a gentleman. T would prefer to do 1
1l as it is to whereby if you could repeat the 11 that way.
12 question so that I could answer it because I've 12 Q  You also understand you're being asked
13 lost continuity. 13 to advocate a position for the plaintifl in this case, are
14 MR. ENGLISI: Okay. 14 you not?
15 MR. WOODFIN: [ didn't have a question. 15 A No, sir, [ don't know that I'm
16 MR. ENGLISH: Well, would you cxplain 16 necessarily being asked to advocate a position for the
17 your answer as to why the change in the 17 patient. What I was asked to do was objectively -- at the
1% restrictions were made on the day he came in to 18 end, | was asked to ogi(ectively cvaluate the patient, I was -
19 see you at my request, as you always see people 19 asked to objectively take care of the paticnt, and I was
20 for different attorneys? 20 asked to objectively impair the patient if any cxisted, and
21 TIIE WITNESS: Sure. Pleasc understand 21 1 think I did all three. Klow, I will tell you this, I
22 the reason why was that a suflicient period of 22 certainly tried to do all three,
23 time had taken place between when the injury 23 You were beginning to sce Mr. Neely upon
24 occurred and wEen I was seeing him. There was no 24 referral ol his attorney, correct?
25 substantial improvement or no improvement 25 A Mr. Inman, I think, was the person who
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set this up first. Yes.

Q  One of his attorneys?

A Yes, sir, I believe so.

Q  The history that we talked about
carlicr, if there is some flaw in the history, that
obviously affects the way you're able to give your opinions
about causation as it relates to an accident, correct?

A It could. Yes, sir.
Q - Okay. And whether or not he was being
truthful with you, ﬁou have no way of knowing; you, as a
doctor, just take what your patient tells you and gelicve
that to be the truth?

A Yes, sir. The patient was given Lhe
benefit of the doubt in that regard, and I found him 1o be
truthful and if I have evidence to the contrary, that
certainly would be a big factor. .

Q  Now, you didn't have an occasion to look
al any medical records prior to this event of July 20047

A No, sir.

Q Okay. Tdon't think T have all of your
notes, not through anyone's fault, probably through my own.
May [ take a look at your chart?
A Sure, ['m sorry, that was the only
I think I added.

thing .
Q  That's a good picture. Don't worry

0 =1 R W —
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A Yes, sir.
Q Has all your testimony today been based
on reasonable medical certainty, both for myself and for
Mr. Woodfin, throughout this deposition? :
A Yos, sir.
Q And did any of the questions that Mr.
Woodfin asked you on Cross Lixamination cause you 1o change
your opinions to any of the answers that you had previously
given me on my Dircct Exantination?
A No, sir,
MR. ENGLISH: Okay. That's all,
Thanks. .
MR. WOODFIN: Nothing further.
AND FURTHER DEPONENT SAITH NOT,
THOMAS M, KOENIG, M.D.
By

Court Reporter
Sworn to before me this 30th
day of November, 2005,

Notary Public
My Commission Expires: December 19, 2006,
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about it.
THE VIDEQGRAPHER: Would you like 10 go
off the video record?
MR. WOODFIN: 1 don't think I'il be that
tong. Thank you.
‘ Q Okay, sir. And, again, I didn't mean to
imply you were hiding anything or not sharing anything, I
Just wanted to make sure I had everything --
A Sure,
Q -- that I asked you about when I needed
to. Thank you.
MR. ENGLISH: s that it?
MR. WOODFIN: That's it.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. ENGLISH:
 Doctor, is it probable that a fracture
of his coccyx, Mr. Neely's coccyx, about twenty-two years
ago would cause a disc problem that you found'in his Tow
back on the MR1, would suddenly start hurting him
imumediately after this wreck? Ts that probab%e or not?
A orgive me. I would hate to rephrase
your guestion, but 1 think what you're asking me is, is it
possible that just becausc he had a coceyx fracture in
1982, that because of that fracture in 1982, twenly years
later, with or without a motor vehicle accident, that
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because of that fracture he would have some of the symptoms
in his tumbar spine?

Q Ycah,

A Yeah. Iwould think that that would be
a protruding disc in particular. I think that that would
be improbable.

Q@ Okay. Doctor, when you last saw this
man on the 15th of November, did you do an impairment
cvaluation so that you could give your best, most honest
opinion as to whether or not this man had any impairment
retative to the wreck that we’re here about today?

A Yes, sir. 1'm sure that the patient may
not have been happy with the fact that his history is such
that he said he wasn’t hurting, he dida't have any decrease
in range of motion, vet I felt that there was probably
some, but again [ tried to be fair to eveliybod . Ttried
to do it as per the AM.A. Guides, and [ triedy to do it as
objectively as possible,
Did you take the Waddell's test, the

positive Waddell's test into consideration in your
evaluation and impairment today, sir?

A Yes, sir. And when you say impairment
today, thou%h, 1 apologize -- .

S Q n your impairment rating that you've
given today.
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